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she wight call me to take over so I went out the back way and wingled with the
croud al different spots in the h;wpital and gee what was brewing, well soe

I see two cars comin. fast with spot lights on so I presumed that this was
the military police, They case to the main entrance and told everybody to get
out, ;nd toey and atematic wrifles, and rifles with bayenete, and sub machine
guus, Well eventually every bedy went out, And I was slso out side too, I
tried to get back in and told him I was the awbulance ariver but all he stated
was get back and pointed the gun at we, so why was I to argue, I hung arouud
for about .15 minutes and got tired becasue if there was eny irouble ‘I aldntt
want to be around, So I went hue with a few of my peihhores. Weil we talked
it for sbout & half hour or se and we took a look out side and saw that there
wasn't a mob left, (I live on the block next to the hospitel) 8o I went
back au. reportea back to work, Well I started to talk with the feilows who
were in the hospitel, I was talking to the parmeciest for a while, Oh yes,
they asked for Dr, Goto (that is the mob did) but he didn't come out, aund they
also shouted for Dr, Little, the Med, Director, but he didn't come out either,
I think that he went with the military poiice wien they toek Mr, Teyaus eut.-
And be was the Dr, on call thet night., Weil it wes very ealm in the hogpital,
we were sitting around talkéng, with friends that elther worked in the
bospitsl or that lived in the near by blocks, At the sawe time —— the other
haif of the mob that went to the police station %0 try asnd get ﬁem out wag
sll sround the stestion, The military police wes in there and had the situation
well in had, Then some dub mut goes snd gets into & car by the station and
starte it end puts it into second ana heads it towards the police stat.on and

then gumps off, This was in the rear, well the car wrecked the cormer of the

station,

Oh yes, at ibis weeldng they held that night, they vead off the

names of certain persons that bad high up jobs in the Ads Becsuse it was
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THE BEATING OF SABURO KIDO
The following is the official interpretation of the
beating of Saburo Kido, national JACL president, which
occurred in Camp II early Sunday morning, Jan. 31, as
recorded in the Poston Chronicle of Feb. 2, 1943:
EIGHT HELD FOR FELONY CHARGE
STATE COURT TO TRY MEN FOR ASSAULT ON JACL HEAD

A gang of eight evacuees, ra _nging in age from 18
to 37, were found guiltg of having committed a felony by
the Poston II Judicial CGommission for an asserted attack
on Mp, and Mrs. Saburo Kido, 215-2D early Sunday mornin§
and, in accordance with WRA Administrative Instruction 7 34
were extraditéd to the Yuma County law enforcement officials
for trial in the Superior Court of the State of Arizona.
The eight evacuees, all of whom made written confessions
admitting their participation in the crime, were charged
with asserted assault and battery on the Kidos Sunday
morning at 2 o'clock with intent to commit great bodily
harm.

Kido was reported to be resting comfortably in the
Poston General Hospital and will be confined to bed for
several days with bruises about his head, shoulder and
arms. Mrs. Kido was not injured. ;

The efficient work of the Unit II police force re-
sulted in the immediate apprehension of those who were
confessedly responsible for the attack. The Judieial
Commission then met in an emergency session at 4:15 a.m.,
Sunday, in the police headquarters. After hearing and
discussing the evidence against the eight youths, the
Commission brought in the decision that the attack consti-
tuted a felony, thereby autometically relinquishing thelr
authority of conducting a trial in Poston to the State.

Those who were charged with the asser%ed attack
included: George Inouye, 207-2B; HMames Y. “anaka, 227-6D3
Tadao Hasegawa, 207-2B; Tetsuo Inokuchi, 214-6B; litsuto
Kurimoto, 216-8A; Miyoshi Matsuda, 211-14D; Kataru Urabe,
220-5D; and James To¥a, 211-5A, They were accompanied
by Project Attorney T.H, Haass, and an evacuee attorney
to Yuma.



The actual account reconstructed from data supplied
by my Camp II inform;nts is as follows: From Jan. 21,
1943 until the time of beating, two to five policemen
had been regularly stationed near Kido's'apartment to
profect him from possible assailants. The posting of guards
is reported to have occurred as a result of a threatening
letter which Kido received about this time., His popularity
in Camp IT has never been very great but resentment against
him inereased noticeably when the War Bepartmenf announced
plans for recruiting a Nisel unit on January 27. At that
time a number of people fecalled that Kido had participated
in the JACL convention in Salt Lake City in November when
the resolﬁtiop conberning selective draft had been framed
and they also remembered that he had been rather aetive
pakilie-ouk pebtaRona Lo Misel Sa velioany. T4 tne R
army, The exact connection between Kido and the eight
Kibei who attacked him Sunday is unknown to me but it is
rumored that when the F.B.I. began to make a systematic
investigation of Tachibana, their leader and reputed head
of the anti-administration cligque in Camp II segeral
weeks ago they interpreted this as the work of Saburo
Kido in retaliation for Tachibana's posting of pickets
at quad meetings when he was making his round of camp to
explain his connection with the JACL resolution.

On Saturday evening about 10:30, directly after the

end of the shibal the following Kibei met at the home of



an Issei called Kawahira in bloeck 208 to draw up plans
for Kido's beating: .

Weorge Inouye -- age 18, from block 207-2B

James‘Tamaka -= age ?, 227-6D

Tadao Hasegawa -- age 21, 207-2B

Tetsuo Inokuchi -- age 22, 214-6B

Mitsuto Kurimoto -- age 19, 216-8A

Miyoshi Matsuda -- age 21, 211-14D

Kataru Urabe, age 37, 220-5D

James Toya, age 28, 211-5A,

It is reported that before the meeting these boys had
contacted Iéséi in their group and had been cautioned not
to beat Kido that night but to wait for a more opportune
moment. The boys had retorted that if the Issei would not
condone the deed they would take full responsibility and
do it themselves.

The attack was scheduled for 3:00 a.m. but the boys
became impatient and decided to do it at two o'cloeck when
they noticed that the police car usually parked in front
of Kido's apartment was not there. When the eight
assailants arrived on the scene they separated into three
groups to perform their assigned tasks. Four of them put
wooden pegs about four inches long into the latches of
each apartment in barracks 1 and 2 (i.e. Kido's berrack
and the one facing it) to prevent his neighbors from getting

out to help him. “nother group took down the mess hall
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gong and turned off the lights in the two latrines and
laundry room located near Kido's apartment. The third
group unscrewed the hinges from Kido's door and lifted it
off bodily. Then the first group of four stationed them-
selves between 28 and 1A while two others watched nesar
Kidot's apartment to warn Matsuda and Tanake who had been
assigned to do the beating in case of interference. Here

is a rough sketeh of block 215 to show the 1obatidn of

Kido's apar ?nt (marked with red Xn

I+ 13
Matsuda entered the apartment first and as soon

Lo [aum!lry rooM)
O = Men's [atrine

Q - Wemen's Latrine

55 Mau

as Kido perceived him he called out: "You are Matsuda,
aren't you?" This completely unnerved Matsuda giving

Kido an opportunity to leap out of bed and pin him downe.
At this moﬁent Tanaka came in and proceeded to whack

Kido on the head and shoulders. Vhen the vietim 1ifted
one hand to ward off the blowé two of his fingers were
smashed., By this time Mrs. Kido end Violet Ishii, a young
girl from Hawaiil who has been living with the Kidos for‘

about two years, bean scresming and awoke the neighbors.



It is reported that Violet fainted soon after but Mrs. Kido
kept up her sereaming until hélﬁ arrived., #s soon as the
gix boys étationed outslide heard the screams they scattered
in all directions so thgt when the attackers rushed out
‘thelr accomplices were nowhere to be seen. In their haste
they left behind one brown Oxford shoe belonging to Tanaka,
two blue and white bandanas that they head used to conceal
the lower haif of their faces, one ironwood club (round
bodied, square handled, knobbed at end and about 2 feet
long), end a smashed flashlié%.

-By this time two policemen who had concealed them-
selves in the boller room of the laundry as well as two of
Kido's neighbors (one of whom had removed his window
screen to get out while the other had broken down his
door) appeared on the scene and aided Kido in capturing
Matsuda. One of the policemen had heard the door being
unécrewed but thad lost time awekening his companion who
was fast asleep affording the assailents time to attack
Kidoe By this time also a number of people.from blocks
215 and 216 arrived to find out the cause of the commotion.
(People in 216 were notified of the disturbance by two
individuals who had taken it upon themselves to guerd that
block that night from an ambulance so that no harm would
befall the block ménager and the chairman of the Coop whose
apartments had been smeared with human excrement on
Thursday. These two saw four boys rush across from 215 to

210 shortly after two o'clock and sensing something'unusual
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had aroused residents of 216 who immediately hﬁnried over
to 215 and discovered Matsuda pinned to the ground by
policemen, This in all probabiiity is the basis for the
rumor now spreading in Camp II that blocks 215 and 216
had set a trap to capture Matsuda and his Kibel gang).

The two policemen then deputized the young people of 215
who had gathered there in a menacing attitude with c¢lubs
and cenes to watch him while they reported the incident

to the police department. Meanwhile Kido, accompanied by
Dr. Kita, a dentist, was taken in an ambulance to the

Camp I hospital where they found injuries on his head,
shoulders, hands and ribs. He remained unconscious all
day Sunday and lMonday. While there Kita aroused Head who
in turn notified Haas, James, and a few oth?r administrative
officials who contacted the F,B.I., agents stationed in

the M,P, barracks just outside of Camp II.

In the meantime Crawford, administrator of Unit Iﬁ,
Miller, chief of internal security, and Scott, his assistant,
had been notified and arrived at the scene of the ecrime
to interrogate the prisoner. Kikuo Endo of the Social
Welfare Department acted as interpreter since Matsuda has
been in this country only three years and barély speaks
English, At first the prisoner firmly adhered to the
story that he was the only one involved in the incident --
that he alone was responsible for the attack on Kido.

By this time the crowd became unruly and an angry voice
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accused: "You're lying. We saw two or three others run-
ning away." Updn this without any third degree being imposed
on him Matsuda confessed that he had two accomplices =--
Tetsuo Inokuehi of bloeck 214 and James Tenaka of 227.

He was then taken to the police station for further
questioning while the two named were picked up in their
homes.

When Inokuchi was led into the police station Matsuda
turned to him and exclaimed: "There were just the two of
us, weren't there?" This infuriated Miller who took
Matsuda aside and ordered him to speak only when questioned.
Inokuchl related one story after another, each contradiecting
the preceding so the police could get nowhere with him.
Observers later remarked fhat he was the onlﬁ one of the
eight who was "oboko rashil" or "scted like a man." Tanaka
was next brought igg&nd made a slip whgn he commented that
he lknew the faces of the other participants but was un-
acquainted with their names. Further questioning revealed
two more accomplices -- Kurimoto of 216 and Urabe of 220.

It is claimed that he actually named three but siﬁce the
police station was in such a bedlam by this time the
authorities were able to eateh only two names. The police
-and young people of 215 and 216 were then instructed to

fetch them. Ursbe was immediately picked uﬁ at home but
Kurimoto could not be located until 8:30 when they discovered
him hiding in the méss hall. TUrabe in turn mamed Toya of

211 as one of the acéomplices. As soon as Toya appeared
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his betrayer turned to him and whispered in Japanese:
"They know all about it already so you might just as well
spill everything." '

Wihen the esuthorities started to question Toya he was
trembling all over and could scarcely speak. hen a police-
man offered him a glass of watef he gulped it down and
when another was offered it too was hastily consumed. Then
on his part he requested a third glass which appeared to
calm him somewhat. He not only revealed the nemes of the
remaining accomplices but gave a detailed account of the
ineident from the time they met in Kawahira's apartment to
the actual beating. He even went to the extent of drawing
a diagrem to show the exact position of each of the boys
during the attack.

Meanwhile in another section of the police station
the Judicial Commission of Unit II met in an emergency
session sbout 4:15 a.m. and brought out the verdict that
the attack constituted a felony and therefore outside its
jurisdiction. In accordance with WRA Administrative
Instruction no. 34 the Commission declared that the case
being & felony the boys could not be tried in Poston but
had to be turned over to Yuma County officials for trial
in th; Superior Court of the State of Arizona.

After signed confessions were obtained from each
of the eight fellows involved in the attack they were
escorted to the Yuma jail by Ted Haas, projéct ettorney,
and Pom Masuda, member of the Legél Depaftment of Unit I.



fecording to Mich Kunitani, "The Kibeis had the crust to
ask Haas to defend them." It is rumored that alli of the
boys, with the exception of one who pleaded not-guilty,
will not receive a hearing in Yuma since they all confessed
to the crime. As far as I know they are still in the Yuma
jall awaiting sentence. ;

In a conversation with Ted Haas shortly after the
incident he informed me proudly that Miller had wanted to
put the Kibel under third degree but he had persuaded him
to use the regular police technique of telling each person
during the interview that the one before him had confessed
everything. In this way they had no difficulty in obtaining
confessions since all of them were proud of the role they
had played in the attack on Kido whom they considered a
disturbing ihfluenee in €amp II. According to Haas all of
them firmly believed that they had beaten Kiflo "for t he
welfare of thé community" and only when they were informed
that a sentence of one to ten years might be passed upon
them did they begin to look at it from Western standards
and waver in thelr convictions. In conversations with
Camp II friends there is every indication that the Kibel
were dead certain of being retained in camp by the residents
as in the November strike in Camp ¥. Their idea seems to
have been: "Hell, they can't do anything to us."

It is reporéed that when Wade Head arrived at the

police station about three in the morning he saw a large



crowd armed with clubs and canes standingsin front of it
and feared a recurrence of the ﬂovember strike. By this
time at least twenty M.P.'s injieeps had been placed on
guard in fron; of the police station. When Head learned -
that the people there were sympathefhic towsrd the
administration and wished to preserve law and ofider in
Cemp IT he recalled the M.P.'s about 10:30 Sunday morninge
It may be of interest to you that immediately after
Kidot!s attack a guard of eight policemen were thrown around
the apartments of Sim Togasaki of Camp III and Tep Ishimaru
of Qamp I who participated with Kido in the JACL convention

at Salt Lake @ity in November.t )
1
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l. You will probably appreciate this report a little
better when you read my reports on the reaction 8o the
JACL resolution and the Camouflage Project now in
preparation.



THE TACHIBANA CASE

Shortly after the attack on Kido Sunday morning four
F.B.I. agents stationed in the M,P. barracks just outside
of Camp II and who had been conducting investigations of
so-called "agitators" for the last three or four weeks
entered camp and began picking up suspects. According to
my ¢hief informant in Camp II who lives two barracks away
from Taehibana, the réputed head of the anti-administration
group in that ceamp, four F.B.I, agents arrived at Tachibanats
door shortly after three o'eclock in two separate cars
accompanied by M.P.'s in two jeeps. While two of them
guarded the entrance, the other two opened the dooth
the apartment shared by Tachibane and his father-in-law,
Kobayashi, walked right in, turned on the lights and
aroused the family. They then ordered Tachibana and
Kobayashi to pack their suitcases to come along with them.
When one of them attempted to snap a handcuff on Tachibana
1t is reported that he flung it aside angrily claiming that
he was not a criminal -~ that he was a Japanese and would |
go peacefully wherever they wanted him to goe The agent,
thinking that Tachibana might become difficult, pulled out
his pistole At this point it is claimed that the two sons
of Kobayashi -- Ken, aged 22, and Dan, aged 19 -- cursed
the F,B,I, roundly and challenged them to shoot the whole
family if they wished to use a pistol. “ccording to by-
standers the agents appeared afraid and seemed to expect

violence on the part of the boys. #s he was being led
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into the car Tachibana is credited to have said: "I am

glad I was able to do my bit for Japan." (X's wersion
obtained from a member of Tachibana's gang in block 211
[éachibana's blocg]'is slightly different. ‘then the agent
pulled out his‘gun one of the Kobayashi boys taunted: "Now
you have the gun out. Go ahead and shoot. If you're secared
to shoot, put the gun away." This was accompanied by much
abusive language. X does not believe that Trachibana actually
uttered the farewell speech credifed to him. He has known
him for over twenty years and feels that the speech is not
in keeping with his personality.)

Five other Issel were picked up by the F.B.I. that
morning: Kawahira and Harada of 208, Kojima of 220, “pamaki
of 209 and Hanaoka of 222. It 1s reported that when the
agents came to fetch Kawshira he was in the police station
belng questioned for the beating of Kido, but since they
were in such a hurry to remove him thé police could not
obtaln a confession from him. As soon as the "agitators"
were plcked up one by one they were shot out immediately
to M,P. headquarters near Camp I for questioning. %ccording
to the latest administrative report the sewen men have
been transferred from Phoenix and are now in Texas awalting
trial, #s far as I Imow, %an and Ken Kobayashi, wpo were
also picked up by the F.B,I, later that morning and charged
with resisting arrest and participating iq the November

strike, are still in Phoenix.
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ATTITUDES CONCERNING THE INCIDENT
Administrative Attitude:

The job was well done. The culprits were taken out
expeditiously after securing the consent of the Judlelal
Comnission.

Crawford, Unit II administrator, has always been anxious
to have Tachibana and his gang removed from cemp. About three
or four weeks ago, allegedly on his encouragement, the
F.B.I., came in to check Tachibana's census files. Miller,
James, Kennedy, Haas, etc. havp constantly maintained that
if the few "agitators" in Qamp IT could be removed they
would succeed in running camp the way they desired. The
intended arrest of five Issei from Camp II, including
@achibana, was announced by Norris Jemes, Press and
Intelligence Officer, at an administrative staff conference
in Camp I at 10:30 Saturday morning; It 1s reported that all

those present seemed to be greatly in favor of the idea.

Evacuee Attitudes:

Camp II: Two contrasting sentiments appear to prevail:
(1) "Now we'll run camp smoothly with those agitators out.”
(2) "They have bungled up everything but this is not the
end,"

Camp I sentiments picked up at random:

"Tachibana was the restraining force on actionists in Camp II."
"Beating is the best form of chiding intellectuals."

"Oh, we'll have trouble again."
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"The forty-seﬁen anins waited three years for their revenge."

"We don't have to take revenge while we'lre in camp; there's
plenty of time. Letts take theif eye§ out and make them
blind as soon as we have a chance." ikl

"Gee, it's too bad they bungled up the beating." (Nisei).

"They should have done it a little more intelligently."

Ultra=-liberal reaction: Identical with that of the
administration.

It is interesting to note that all of the foregoing
statements with the exception of the "ultra-liberal” coﬁdone
the beating of Kido.

X burst into my office the day after Tachibana's
arrest and recounted in great detail the conversation he had
had with “vans, Unit I administrator and personal frieénd,
concerning the incident. Since X in his public statements
portrays the sentiments of possiblj three-fourths of the
Zssei and nearly one-half of the Nisei in Camp I (although
in private 1ife he is one of the few real liberals I have
met among the Japanese) I shall atbempt to repﬁpﬁuce his
convefsation with Svans as accurately as possible to give

vou an insight into Camp I sentiments:

2 -3 didﬁ't know you guys (administrative officials) are
a2 bunch’' of Nazi storm troopers. You take out those
persons who are opposed to your ideologies and put them
in conéentration campse At best your administrative

philosophy ecannot be any better than that of Pritish
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administrators in the Far Hast. How do you expect
to run camp without knowing where the social norm
is? If you remove camp leaders just because they
criticize your point of view I'1ll say that WRA is

a failure. In this camp I've noticed that anyone
who critiecizes the adminisfration is labeled an
agitator and an agitator according to you people is
pro-Axis. Pon't you know there are cuotation marks
in the typewriter? Wihy don't you use them once in
8 while? “ecording to your definition I'm pro-Axis."
(Evans flushed when X told him this. *“eccording to
Spicer, he like the rest of the administration was
convinced that Camp I residents were supporting

the administrative stand 100% this time.)

Byenst Hell you're pro-Axis. I don't believe it. Vell,
we need people like you in the administration. 3
want advice. I'm lost. I really want to work for
the Japanese people. You know that. Won't you
advise me? (Evans has been persuading X for some time
to become his Issei advisor but X under no circumstances
will tie himself with the administration).

b & I'm not eriticizing you. There's nothing personal
in what I said. I'm talking like this because you're
sitting in that c¢halr in this office. You are the
mymkXmx symbol of the incompetent, uﬁintelligent,
inefficient administration., My block residents
forced me to take thé block manager's job but if you



accept me you're going to have a hell of a trouble.

I think the block people made a mistake in electing
to office one of the s trongest anti-administration
men in campe.

On account of soecial sanction I took
the job but you cen refuse me if vou want to since

no one can tell me what to say and what not to say.

Evans: As far as you're concerned we made a mistake. TI'1l

take anything if itt's from you.

X: Regarding the beating I'11 say this point-blank:
In Paris a éerman soldier was sniped at by some
Frenclmen.

B

Fhe Germans in retaliation shot a few
?renchmen.

Yet, more @erman soldiers were ambushed.
&gain, a few more Frenchmen were shot. Ana so on.

I'm laughing at you people because vou think the
whole thing has ended just because the attackers

were arrested. Ybu'know that when motivational need
is too great there 1s no legal sanction.

You have
been talking about law and order all this time but

you know now how silly it sounds to me.

# # #

Recorded Feb, 3, 1943



BeaTing of Salumg Mo

The actual account reco structed from dsta supplied by my Camp II
informents 1s as follows: From Jan. 21y, 1943 until the time of ba
beating, two to five policemen had been regulsrly st=t ioned m ar
Kido's spartment to protect him from possible assislants. The
posting of guards ds reported to hsve occurred as a result of =
threatening letter which Kido received sbout this time, His pop=-
ularity in Cemp II hew never been grest but resentment zg» inst hi
increased noticesbly when the War Dept. annoum ed pk ns for re-
cruiting & Wisei unit on Jan. 27, At thset time = rnumber of pe-ple
rcalled that Kide had participsted in the JACL convention in S-1t
Lake City in November when the resolution concerning selective
draft had bee. framed =nd they slso remembered th=t he had been
rether active psssing out petitions to "isei to volunte:r for the
UsSs 7rmy, The exact conmection between Kido =nd the eight Kibei
who attacked him Bundsy is dnknown to me but it is rumared tht
when the FB! begsn to mske 2 systematic nvestigstion of Tadh i-
bena, their leader snd reputed head of thex anti-zdm, clique

in Camp ITI several weeks ago they interpereted this =& the work
of Seburo Kido in relaliastion for Tachibsna's posting of picke ts
at quad meetings when he was making his round of camp to e 1= in
his conme ction with the JACL resolltwdnn.

On Sat. evning about 10:30, direct 1y =fter the end of the
shibai the following Kibei met st the home of an Issei c=1lled
Kew=hira in block 208 to draw up plans for Kido's beating:

George Inouye--- age 18, from block 207-2R

Jameg Tangk@=-=-- age 7, 227-6D

Tadso Hasegaws=-- age 21, 207-2B

Tetsuo Inokuchie-- age 22, 214-6B

Mitsuto Kurimoto--- age 19, 216-8A

Miyoshi Matsudas--- age 21, 211-14D

Kateru Urabe---age 37, 220-5D

James Toya, age 28, 211-5A.
It is reported thst before the mtg these boys had contscted Is-
sel in their group and h=d been cszutioned not to beat Kido th t
night but to wait for = more opportune moment. The boys had
retorted that if the Issel would not codone the deed they would
teke full responsibility and do it themselves,

The attack was scheduled for 3:00 A.Y, but the boys becszme
impstient and decided to do it st two o'clock when they noticed
that the policebear usuzslly psrked in front of Kide's =pt. was
not there. When the eight assailsnts grrived on the scene tley
separated im o three groups to perform their assigned tasks. Fouro
of them put wooden pegs about four inches long it o the lstches f
each apt. in B rracks 1 and 2 (i.e. Kido's berrack and tke om
facing it) to prevent his ne gghbors from & tting out to help him.
Another group took down the mess hall gong =nd turned off tk 1ligs
hts in the two latrines and lsum ry room located near Kido's
pt. The third group unscrewed the hinges from Kido's door amd
1ifted it off bodily. Then the first group of four ststioned
themsclves between 2A and 1A while two others watch d nesr Fido's
apt. to warn Metsuda 'md Tanska who had been assigned to do the
beating incese of interference........latsuda entered the =pt,
first end as soon as Kido perceived him he c=lled out: You =are
latsuda, sren't you?" This completely unmerved VMatesuda giving
Kido an opportunity to lesp out of bed and pin him down. At this
moment Tanska came in and proceededto whack Kido o nthe head and
choulders. When the victim lifted one hand to ward off the blows
two of his fingers were smached. By this time Wrs., Kido and Viok t
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Ishii, = young girl from Hewaii who h=s been living with the
Kidos for sbout two years, begsn gcreaming and swoke the neigh-
bors. It 1s reported that Violet f-inted soon after but lrs,
Kido kept up her screaming until help arrived., As soon =g the .
8ix boys ststioned out side heard the scresms they scsttered
in =211 directions 80 that when the =sttackers rushed out their
accomplices were nowhere to beseen. In their hscte they left
behind them one brown oxford shoe belonging t Tan=ka, twoblue
end white bendannss thet they had used to concesl tle lower
hz1f of their fscesy one iromwood club(round bodied, squsre
hendled, knobbed at end and sbout 2 ft. long), =nd = smashed
flashlight.

By this time two policemen who had concesled themselves in
the boiler room of the lsuddry =s well a8 two of Kido's neigh-
bors(one of whom had removed his wiridow sereen to get out while
the other had broken down his door) sppeared on the scene snd
aid-d Kido in c=pturing Matsuda. One of the policemen had heard
the door being unsersw d but had lost time awskening his compen-
ion who ws fast asleep affording the assail~nts time to sttack
Kido. By this time a2lso a mumber of people from blocks 215 'nd
216 arrived to find out the csuse of the commot on. (People in
216 were 'otified of the disturbsnce by two inmiividusls who h=d
taken it upon themselves to gusrd thst block that night from =n
ambulsnce Bo that o harm vould befzll the block m=m ger =1 the
chairman of the Cop whose apts. had been smeasred with humsn
excrement om Thursd-y. These two saw four boys rush across from
215 to 210 shortly after two o'eclock =nd semsing something un-
usu=1l had aroused residents of 216 who immedistely hurried over
to 215 'nd dis covered Matsuda pinned to the ground by policemen.
This in all probesbllity is the basis for the rumor now spreading
in Camp II that blocks 215 and 216 had set = trao to espture Mat-
suda =nd his Kibel gsng.) The two policemen then deputized the
young people of 215 who had gsthered there ina meraciing attitude
with clubs = d csnes to watch him while they reported the i iien
to the police dept. Meanwhile Kido, accompsnied by Dr. Kitz, a
dentist, wes tsken in an smbulance to the C-mp I hospitsl where
they found injuries on his head, shoulders, hands =znd ribs. Me
remsined unconscious 211 day Sunday and Monday. While there Kit=
aroused Head who in turn notified Hass, James, =nd = few other
#dm, officizls who contacted the FRIT agents statiored in the WP
berracks just outside of Camp IT,

In the meantime Crawford, adm. of Unit II, Miller, chief
of inter 2l security, and Scoot, his assistant, had been notified
end srrived =t the scene of the crime to interrogate the prisorex
Kikuo Eddo of the Soc. Welfare Dept. =zcted as inte rpreter simce
Matsuda has been in this country only three years amd berely
speaks inglish, At first the prisoner firmmly adhered to the st ry
thet he was xkmwm the only one iwmolved in the incident---tlrt he
elone was resp nsible for the sttack on Kido. By this time the
crowd becsme untruly snd sn angry voice accus=d: "You're lying.
We saw two or three others running sway." Upon this without any
third degree being imposed on him Matsuda confessed thst he had
two sccomplices----Tetsuo Inokuchi of block 214 and Jemes Tare ka
of 227, He wss then tsken to the police station for further quest
ioning while the two nemed were picked up in their homes.

When Inokuchi was led into the police station Matsuda turred
to him and excleimed: "There were just the two of us, weren't kwxe
there?" This infuristed Viller who took Mstsuda aside and ordered
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him tovspesk only when questioned. Inokuchi r lated one story
after snother, esch contradicting the preceding one so the polie
could get nowﬂere with him. Observers l=ter rem=rked that he was
the only one xdmx of the eight who skmx wes "otoko r=ghii" or
wacted 1ike a msn." Tsnska was next brought in and made = slip
when he commented thet heknew the faces of the other participnts
but not their nsmes. Further questioning revealed two more accom
plices--- Kurimoto of 216 and Urabe of 220, It is cl=imed th t b
he actus1ly nsmed three but since the police station was in sach
2 bedlem by this time the suthorities were able to catch only
two nmmes. The police and young people of 215 and 216 were tin
instructed to fetch tem. Ursbe was immedistlty picked up at
home but Kurimoto could not be locsted until 8330 when they dis-
covered him hiding in the mess h-1l. Ursbe in turn nmed Toya of’
211 as one of the sccomplices. As soon.as Toys eppeared his e -
trayer tumed to him =nd whispered in Japanese: "They know all
sbout it slready so you might just as well spill everything,*

When the suthorities st rted to question Toya he was
trembling all over mnd could scerecly spesk. When a polt eman
offered him a glass of water he gulped it down and when snotle r
was Gffered it too was heatily consumed, The n on his part he
requested a third gless which sppeared to calm him somewhat. He
not only revezled the names of the remaining accomplices but-
geve a detsiled sccount of the incident from the time they met hn
Kawshira's apt. to the s ¢ ual beating. He even went to thee termnt
of drawing s disgrsm to show, thee xact position of esch of tie
boys during the attack. |

Meanwhile in snother section of the police station the
Judicisl Commisigion of Unit II met in an emergency gession
about 4:15 A.M, snd brought dut the verdict thst the attack
constituted a felony and therefore outside its Jurisdeiion,
In accordsnce with WRA ADM, INST, 7O, 34 the Commission declared
thet the case being a felony, the boys could not be tried in
Poston but had to be turned over to the Yuma County officis 1s
for trisl in the Superior Court of the Stat of Arizona.

After signed confe ssions were obtained from each of the
eight fellows involved in the attsck they were escarted to the
Yuma jeil by Ted Ha=s, project attorney, and Tom Masuda, member
of the Legal Dept. of Unit I, |
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After signed confessions were obtained from each of the
eight fellows involved in the attack(on Saburo Kido)they were
escorted to the Yums jail by Ted Haas, project attorney, and
Tom Wasuda, member of the Lessl Department of Unit I. Accord-
ing to Wich Kunitani, "The Kibeils had the crust to msk Hams to
dwf@nd them,” Tt is rumornd that all of the hboys, with the e
ception of one who plesded not-guilt y, will not receive 2 hear-
ing in Yuma since they al1l confessed to the crime., As far as I
‘know they are still in the Yums Jjsil aweiting sentence,

In & conversation with Ted H=as shortly after the incident
he faformed me proudly that Miller hsd wanted to put the Kibei
und-r third degree but he had persuaded him to use the regulsr
police technigque of telling each person during th: interview thet
the one before him had confessed everything. In this way they
had no diTficulty in obtaining conf ssions 51ncp all o“'tm!r
were ”TuUd of the role they had played in the attack on Kido
khom they sonsidered = disturbing influence in ,emn TT. According
to '=as all of tlem firmly believed that they had testen Kido
"for the welfare of the community" and only when they were ine-
formed thst a sen tﬂnce of one to iten » ars might be passed upon
them did thsy begin to look st it from Western stard ards and
waver in their convictions. In conversation with Camp II frieds
there is every indication thst the Kibel were dead ceriain of
being retzindd in csmp by the residents s8 in the November
strike in Camp 1. Their idea seems t0 h=ve been: "elly, they o nt
do anything to us.”

It is reported that when Wade Head arrived =t the police
tation sbout three in the morning he ~aw & large crowd around
with clubs smd c=nes standing in front of it and feared = recu-
rence of the November strike. By this time at least twenty IP's
in besps had been plsced on guard in front of the police stasiion,
When Head leammed thst the pecple there were sympsthetlie toward
the adm., and wished to preserve law and order in Camp II i@ re-

cslled the MP's shout 10:30 Sunday morning,.
It mey be of Interest to you thst 1nmﬂ”iﬂ1elv after ¥
ttack & gua rd of eight policemen were thrown around the =pa
ments of Sim Togacsski of Camp IIT and Tep Ishimaru of Camp I
who participated with Kido in the JACL corwention at Salt L
City in November.

(TT)
Rec'd by EHS March4, 1943




&

=

| ..«.".“.
.. _wp._m §4

September 14, 1642

Via Joln Yamauchi
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September 14, 1942
Via Saburo Kido

The attack occured on Sunday night September 13, between
the hours of 11 11130« I was coming home from lir,
Ban-{“- to's Pesidence, which is in Bloek 215~4«(, to
place in the same blogk wife a nd I went ¢
sit the tots around 10 or little after 10, It
was around 11 o'clock that we decided to return home, Iy
wife left first. I read a newspaper and then followed a
1ittle later, I dropped in at the mens latreen for about
ten mimutess Then in freont of Dr. Kita's place I stopped
for the front was quite muddy., I stepped back and jumped
to a dry spot on the elevated bank, All of a sudden I
heard 4 or 5 guys running toward me, I thought at first

that were home, They jumped on a
handk ormuwmz‘ Then they told me te
keep quiet. Ia%lﬁtetnkothommw

:
B

police force later came down to help me search but couldn't
find anythinge The Chief of rFolice and a few of &
basck to cheek on my home, Violet Ishil, who 1s

my stated that at 10115 someone lmoecked at

m’
door and stated that wanted to see mes £he told them
that I wesn't home, but that I was over at i, Yimadoto's
place. When asking for me they stated thet Mr. Ourtis
wanted to see me.

. Perhaps from this they were sble to trace me to where I
was visiting, :



DATE: September 18, 1942

TIugs 4:30 P.M,

FLACE: Clinie, Foston II

S8UBJECT: Beating of Mr, Teramura of Bloeck 216+ A bachelor and
a cook in Kitehen 210,

VIA: Dr, Inouye

Dre. Inouye:

He has a eut under his left eye about one inech long
and about half inch deep, done by a blunt instrument
and not with a knife or anything sherp, Four stiches
were required, I am at present walting for an X-pr
report from Generel Hospital of Foston I, for possible
fractures, As far as I can determine ig is more less
a concusion of a left eye, cheek and iipsu He also
has a lump behind his leéft ears The left side of his
fece 1s all swollen=---can't even open his eye., It
was some shock for the blood pressure was up to 80,

He told me thet his mind was clear and that everything
happened as 1f in a dream. He said he didn't even .
have time to scream, He 1is at present interned in
Ward 5, near the entrance on the left hand side,

His roommates thought that a box had fallen from the
cellinge This case 1s more lese a case of shock,
lentally he is quite all right but was gquite dizzy
right after the beating. He 1s not in a eritical con-
dition, but it was quite a2 shocks He is under mor-
phine right nows Hils recovery will take about two
weeks,

It happened a llttle before 2:00 A.l,--==gbout a quar-
ter to 2, EHis room was cccupled by two or three other
persons,

He was beaten three times. On the last one he used
his hands for protection, He has a little injury on
his left hands He has a hard time swollowing his
food because of his injured lips. He has no teeth
broken and no injuries, He will recover but will
take time,

(Mits Yemada eand Taddy Salkl were the guards on duty near the
wood plles located in the fire break to the south of Bloek 216,
They were the first ones to rush over to the scene of beatings)



BEATING OF SEPTENBER 16, 1912
Via JeSa1
"1 was really burned up when I heard that I was accused of the
beating which occured on September 16, from C.¥. This afternoon

I went to see lr. Crawford about it, After talking ebout this mate

ter for a certain length of time, Mr. Crawford didn't come out dipe

eotly with it but he hinted around thet Drs Kita told him that we
were the ones who were responsible for the beatings He told me
that he warts us to go out and find out who were behind the beats

ing in order to clear our rames." (kE)

Via C.Yet

"Today Mr. Crawford told me that the three of us, J« S.y Jo Ts,
and myself were acoused of the beating which ccoured on September
146, lie said that we were seen in the vieinity of Blook 215 around
11100 P.M, at which time the beating is said to have occured. He
told me that it was necessary tlatwe clear our name and expose

the real culprits,”




BEATING OF SEPTEMBER 16

"Yesterday afternoon Mr, Crawford picked me up when I was wallke
ing toward the Administration Building and told me thet he was sore
ry he thought I was a liar,"

(This statement is in reference to the beating of Sertember 16 and

the little talk which thie person had with ¥r. Crawford on September
2le) (xE)




NISEI INFORMER

via BeKet

"I was interested in these beating eases so I asked T.T. if
he eould pet me & job as a special investigator for lr. Jemes. I
know that Tom has a slip authoriszing him to act in the capacity of
a spetial investigator signed by lr. Crawford because he showed it
to me.

Tom and i visited lir, Teramura at the hospital in Camp I to
get a confession from him but faileds I acted as a Japanese inter=
preter, I am wondering now if I had made my questions clear, Tom

is beooming disgusted with the case because he cannot get any infore

mation, Tom also told me that lr, James is quite fed up with it

and is thinking of having the F.B.I. sent in here to investigate

the case thoroughly."




" €¢.Y. CONVERSATION WITH SABURD KIDO
Via CuYes

"Yesterday I met Saburo Kido and asked him why he had accused
me as being one of the fellows who was in on the beating. I told
him that I d4dn't even lmow him and that the only time I ever saw
him was when he first entered camp and I was there to help him un=
load his bagpgages He said that I was accused because I was in the
vieinity of Bleock 216 when the beating had occurred, He told me
that my name was now ¢lear, I also told him that any person who
tries to proseoute or charge me with something that I didn't de

had better look out. Saburo Kido assured me that he would clari=

fy my neme," (XE)

. NISEI INFORMER
Vh CaYet

"I heard that a fellow from 227, working in the Fress Bulletin
Office, approached by Mr., James to aet as a special investigator
in these beating cases but had refused. I heard from him that T.T.
now has the job and is working for Mr. James and Mr, Crawford. I
don't mow how true it is but he is jmst the type of person to act

as a stool pigeon,” (kE)
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*,Z Dee, 16, 1942

Dear friend,
i

1 will try to tell you sbout the little mix up we had here, Well azbsut a

month and = half sgo, a fellow named lir, Uneno started to wonder why we didn't
geb euough sugar, The Manzansr Free Presc once stated #hat we were to get

per person, Well the kitchens were asking us to mot use so much sugar in our
coffee, And they were kicking sbout not getiinmg encugh sugar, Well he checked
up aud found thev the kitchens were ot getting what they were supposed to,
- 30 he weut to kr, Cambell (who I heer hates the Japanese population) and asked
why the kitchens were not getiing thelr share of the sugar, He couldn't say )
that sugar wesn't coming in because the unloading was done by Jepanese and he
knew exactly how much was coming in., 8o he gtated that the hospital was

gevting 1t, S0 he came over here to the hospitel and checked, Well unfortun-
stely for him, the hospitael had a record of every pound that came into the
hospital and exactly where every ounce went, 8o he went back to Mr, Caupbell

and told him so, S0 this time he says that it 1s golng 1o the ngho-u ssuce
gepartuwent where they umske the sauce, Well previously = statement came out

in the Free Press that, that dept would get a speclal sugar rationing card,

so just to be sure, th.s fellow went over thiere and checkeds ¥ell it was

getting sort of hot ror a certain fellow now, Well there were many other minor
things in the air which the Japanese population didn't like, The minor
population here was making a sucker out of us and aiso mzking hesps of moneye

Anc it seemed like every oue here kuew it, Well sbout three wecks sgo the

JACL had a emergency meeting and all of the big shots from Friscc (WRA

QFFICIALS) =nd twe representatives from each WRA center went to atbecd in

Salt Lake City Utah, Weul one of our representatives, Fred Tayana stated
something to vhis effect, mChange the clessification of the Fisel frow F

%-C to l-A, beceuse they are not sliens ete,” Well it seemed like the

Japanese population aldn't iike Uat statenent or sometiing or otuer that Le
$tuted at the couvention, So one day (Saturday I believe) a group of six
fellows seemed tc have followec him, . As be says it He was playing cards

in the afternoon, and when il was time to eal dinner, they Wroke it up and went
to est ana decided to coutinue it after dimner, Well they ate at different
kitcrens I guess, end so he was walting for the other fellows to come backe

I think thet there was ashow thet night et some kitchen, so there were not

very meny people sbeut, Well he got tired waiting so he went to teke a shower,
on coming out he moticed soweone follow him out., He went back to the house,

He was aione with his kid, his wife was taking a shower, As a rule he never
goes out dde at night time without goueone with him, But tonight ke went

slone, He must have taken a hot shower because he stated that he tuok off his
robe wnen there wes a knoek on the door, Thinking it was a friend, he said

come in, Well six feilows cawe in with masks over their face, They all had
sticks, They quickly surrounded him and started to iry and beat hia up, He

sew this and grabed an iron chalr and gtruck ome fellow with it, Then be

grabed one feilow and tried to grab off his mesk but they were on fairly tight,
He failed in teking it £f but be did grab the fellow, but the five other
fellows struck him and grabed his arms off and final.y he had to profect hiu-
gelf srd let go of the fellow, Im the short fight, oume of tue feilows it Ke =
over the hesd end he had & cut on the back of his fead sbout an ineh and & half
longe Well the fellows ran off into a couple of directions and & few of his =
fricnds sho heard the shouts ete, saw the fellows and tried to follow them ut
it was fruitiess, About this time, two girls (all of this fighting bappemed

3 * Ml por. )
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about 83«5 P} who abttended 2 little get together at the hospitsl finslly
persuaded me in tsking them home, (I wae working on the swing shift frem
four till mianight) I storted down the street and half wey to Mr, Taysmals
house s feiiow I knew hailed me and all excited told me to go to Tayama's
houge becsuse he was just beat up, Well I kroew where he livedbegeuse just
a while back his mother or mother in law died and I had to lLasndle the dead
body and take back her personal belongings ete, WVell I threw it (the cur)
into second aud dug out, that is as best the beal up ambulance could go, and
at that time I was golng on a down grede, I got to his house and drove in
Between the barracks snd picked him up, He was sitting on the bed with a towel
on his bieeding hesd, He threw a blanket over his body (He noew had on pants
end slippers) and ceme into the ambulence, His little daughier who is about
ten or sv saw everytudng end was erying when I ceme in, As I went in I kicked
aslde & stick ;3 so that he wouldn't tumble over it, I later foumd cut that
it was the gick shich opened up his head, Well in the hospitel I took him to
Minor Surgery and celled a docter who wze on call, He started to bundage it
up, In the mesnwhile the police were motified ete, iir, Cambell was wad as
hell #hen he hesrd ebout it snc ststed that if he fouud out who the fellows
were, he was going to ship the fellows out te Lohe Plnes or Independence, Well
he got gbout three stiches in his head, and at this time, when I wauted to
hear everything a call ceme in for sn O.B. (pregnent women sbeut to have a
baby) Se I run the hell out of the subulance to gel there and back so that
I could get all the dope sbout the fight, Well I finsily came back anc the
only way I got inte the room was by teliing them I wae the =mmbulance driver
and I need some dope for our files, I listen to what he said ete, He stated
thet he didu't get to teer the mask off of tue fellows but he was sure thal he
recognized one of the pairs of eyes, and he said that he was sure it was e
certein Uyeno, but not pos.tive of ii, The local police heard this and phone
up the police station and told Mr, Cambell who was ther, and he ordered that
this person be picked up, He was, Late his wife came epnd they started to
telk agein, Then his wife stoted that don't mention any nemes unless he is
sure of them, But it was too late, lir, Cawmbell gave his orders because (as
the citizens in Manzanar say) this was sgood chance for him to put this Uyene
out of here, because he was getiing in his hair sbout the sugsr, Well that
night he was shiped out, DMr, Tayama didn't know if be should stay 1in the
hospital or mot, But finally his wife convinced him, vith the stateument that
wthe fellows might fell satisfied if he had to stey in the hospital for g
while," Well he finelly decided Lo stay, then he assked gbeut if he would get
e private room or not, We told him that there was a private room in Ward %,
the pediatric ward, Well he kept telking about him not wanting to get imte

a big ward with out privatcy because some of the fellows in the ward wouldn't
like him, Cen8t teliwhat will happen to him in the dark with a room full of
men, Well finally I pushed him up to the room and we hospltalized him, Later
Mr, Cambell and Mr, Meritt came to the hospital and greeted lr, Tayama's
brether sho is the head of kitehen 24, and kitehen 24 gets the best food in
camp, and they slways have different kiude of pastery and the besi weat., And
on top of that, all of the truck drivers plus their drew plus the hogg%tal
gtaff which all together conpidt of about 126 peoyle get luto the kitchen
early from the bsck wsy, Well SBe block citizens complained but the kitehen
crew stated toat thelr meal were betler than west all of the blocks in campe
Md thet was true, They were feeding a lot of fellows and still feeding the
block residents, and feeding them good, Well it was funny how Mr, Cembell
greeted Tayama'ls brother and introduced all of the Teyama clan to kr, Meritt
who is the project dlrectors ghey went up to question Mr, Tayama snd as

)
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they caue back they asked me exactly whet time did I pick him up, Well efter
think and going ercund when I left a certsin ward I told him I picked him

up atlgbout 9400 which i= pretily exact to the mimute, Well most of the crowd
went home, Well next day, the fellows in block 22 had a meeting in the
afterncon out gide with a loud gpesker snd =ll, This fellow Uyeno I think
-worked in kitchen 22, Well they had speeches too, and decided that they

would have ancther meeting at night, Well &t night they wer: going to have

" a weeting inside the kitehen, b@t it was too crowed so they decided to have

it out sice, But before they deecidea teo t.he; didn't alow any women in the

- kitehen, Well they had the meeting abwut 6 pm end absut 73850 a mob started

to come to the hospital to get Mr, Taymma oul and meke him sign & pesper stating
that it wasn'i Uyeno who he stated was one of the fellows that beat him up,
Well the Military Police took him eut before that, And another group went to
the police station, In the after noon, the mob decided to ask lr, Xeritt to
bring Uyene back into the center end they would be sstisfied, But they didn't
keep their sbsy word, And they decided that they wouldn't'go into the
hospital but would stay oub sido and see that he didn't leave the bospitel but
he had eirveady left about am half hour ago, 7ell on the contrary the mob came
in and went through the whole hogpitsl, including women, men, pedreatric, T.Bep
end CDP wards, But they couldn't fiud idm so ﬁ!ey started to t=ke it out of

Wrs, Uyemura, Paul's wife, one of the fellows wno used Lo stick arcund with
roe. Well they threatcn her and cused her out etc. until ghe was so scared
ghe aidn't know what to do, Well there wae her, the pharmacist, apnd two Med,
Cliniec girls znd I, The clinic girls went home hen thq heard the mob, snd
sbe aske. me to take over for a while but I didn't went teo,becsuse I new that

~ they would beat up & male 1f he was in the information desk but they wouldn't
most likely beat up a woman, Well thie kept on for a while and I knew that
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these fellows that didn't listen to the comuen citizens talk and hear theirs
opelon, Well after the mob left the huapité.l they went to Nr, Slocum's houge
and tore the place apart and were golug to burn 1t except for thic lady mext
door told them it wes okay to burn that apt dewn but how sbout the rest of
the barrack, So they finsily decided not to burn it down, They also tore
up the house of the Tsyama's and a few others, They tore them u—p so badly
that tuey couldu't use a thing after the wob got through with it, Cut tk_xe rugs,
broke the radios tables, tore and rip all of their clothes, ste, Well they
were after a certain John Sonoda who used 10 be hesd of the personal and they
claimed that he gave all of the good jobs to all of bis fricnds and wes very
sassy sith eli of the citisens because he thought that he held suchk o high
positions, Well there waa & ghow in kitoclien 7 that night, ;,nu he iived in
block two and they ran after him and he ran into the show which dldn't sterd
yet, They got him and best hiw up, The omq} serious external injury that he
got was a cut on the head similar to the o.e Fred Tayame got, But the mob
kicked him so much that he was very seria:-usly beal up internaily, Well asbout
that time we got a phone cell stating thal some one was burt in the mess hell
g0 I rushed over aud saw a m‘c:.b,hut went threugh it and picked bhim up, He was
17.y1ng on-the t:loor with his P jacket over his head, end playing uncocience,
Elkod was trikiing from the collar .ot his P jeceket which was over his head,

I put m on a at_x"eacher and put him in the ambulance and tock him to the
hospital, But I was reslly scared becsuse some of the wob were talking and

I didn't know if they were refering al. of those coments (o we or not, But
everytilng was done before la minut.e. was over and I put him hiper surgery,

They patehed up the cut and hoaﬁits).ized him, He wes helf oub, kepi on wuwblin g
if it was bad, He oﬁuld hardly 1ift up his lege because he w2 so badly beaten
Wpe Well guess who was there taking care of hinwhile he was waiting for the
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ambulance, Leon Miyasski, Well it then became dull for s while then soon
another call came in, Same place, Well I went there again, and this time it
was a man who got in the crowd or sowething, but anyhow he thought that his
leg was broken, I never did find out who he was or if it was broken or not,
There were two of them there but since I had but one strecher I told him that
1 would come right back ®md back I went but sowe one else tock him inte the
hospital, Then there were call from the Ad,, police station, and metor pool
that there pgys was someone burt here or there, I drove like hell and picked
up shot patients from the vicinity of the peolice station, It so happemed that
the mob was getting in closer and closer and waking statemengs about the
military police, And one of the iP's I guess couldntt stand it so they finaily
threw a few tear gas bombs into the crowd and the crowd ran back and went
right into the gas, final.y they nnning back, But at the same time they
opened fire with a automatic rifle or a sub machine gun and shot gun. Every
one of the 11 fellows that got shot were shot in the back, The bullet entered
£row the back, Well I was racing back and forth with the bmbulance bring in
patients, Well I picked up patients from the police station, block ome, bloeck
seven and sbout three other blocks, We had them all over the floor by surgery,
Another ambulance was also helping me, And one of tue orderlies that went with
him pilcked up a dead guy but he didn't know it and since there wasn't any more
room he carried him, dead, —— all the way up to the nospital, Well when I |
came for another strecher, I ;ras going around iooki.ng for a petient who didn't
‘need one and I happened to pick up fhe cloth over his head when the Doc came
by and sald that he was gone, well I needed a strecher so I took t.l:.xe body to
one of the empty wards and tock the strecher and went out agein, Well after it
was all over, one was in the mworg with a bullet right through his heart, and
ten shot somewhere or other, Three eriticall, They operated that night one two
of them, on one of ﬁun, they tock about a foot and a half of gut out which
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was all shot up, the rest of his gut, they sewed up, This other one they
operated on died, and three of the fellows urs;diueharged fros the bespital
today, Well after all of the shooting was over, the fellows threw rocks at the
KB, ind they did not throught them before they shot, they threw the rocks
after they had shot, m: is definite, Well after the first mob went away
from the lspital, the NP's went awsy but after I brought in John Somoda, they
came back aud ever siuce then they have had four KP's posted at the hospital,
even now, Well that night was a mad rush, all of the workers from the two
blocks mext to the hospital who were off, came and helped, plus citizens.

‘j.‘here were more than enough workers, Then carried in the injured, went around
carring them up to the ward and brough in oxygen tanks from the wear house,

and other supplies, the atiendante and ordqruqa went to all of the other
wards and got blankets and sheets and ixed up the umused ward with beds,
wattress, and fixed it up for the patients, Well all in all, I went home about
"% am and they didn't finish operating yet, Bp this time one of the fellows who
were helping in the hospital found out that it was his brother who was in the
morg, he didentified him by nis wallet which we took, We listed the injured and
the population came in one after another looking .at. the list and then copying
it down, Well by that time all of the excitement hed died down and we. were
gitting in the hall talking to the EP‘;. Most of the originel MP here are on IP
because of A WOL., So they didn't stand at attention or anything, In fact they
sat down and put their guns ageinst the wall and slung the bull with us,
Attendants came with sandwiehes and coffee and we just taiked,

Well by this time all of the guys that they had named were in the MP garrisons
sbout & fifty of a mile from the camp, On the list was included Mr, Cambll,

I thiok that he was also in the garrisons, The main ones are now in some CCC
casp in Death Valley waiting to be relocated, I think, ALl thet night end next
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day, and in fact for the next week, the FBI and military poiice were picking
up suspects and shipping them gut to Lone Pine or Independence, (they are
two small cities near Manzanar) (Well since they don't give us a second help-
ing I'm hungry so I'm going to the hospital and eat with the graveyerd girls
who go on pretty soou,)

mt 21' 1942

Well coming back to the story, londay, todsy, every one was supposed to go
back to work, But they only worked hglf day, The furnel was held for the
two fellows who died of bullets two weeks ago, They couldn't hold it within
camp becsuse there wasn't anyplace where such a big group could gather and
gince Lone Pine or Independance didu't care to havethe Japanese population

in their city, (town) the people had to go out to the woods and have it, They
took about ten trucks with the families and three rep. from each block, Well
because the Japenese population didn't care to go to work, the cuacasians
fired sll of the Ad, workers, post office workers and diliveries and truck
swampers for the warehcuse, The hospital and seven other sub stations where
‘we used to diliver our mail is mow out, We have to walk a mile %o mail and
get our mail, The same is with pakages. Well last Sat, when they announced
workers to go back to erk, they also told ue that Mr, Nash and lir, Campell
were pendinz sentence (for graft), l

Well I think that there will not be a police force, that is one composed of
Japanese feilows, They sy that there will be aforce couposed of mcaa:i.an
population, Well we could now phone or send telegrams out, I don't kmow if
this letter wll be censored or not, I doubt it, I also hear that kr, Temple
is fired, because he was too good and friendly with the Japanese Populstion,
He really isa nice fellow from all I hear about him, He speaks good about the
Japanese poplation and tells us that we should ket the lell out of here before
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this becomes a re;l concentration camp with more WP's guarding us snd we will
really get a hell of a deal later, mainiy becsuse of this incident, ©h yes,
there was en editoriel in the Times about the nice good food we get bhere, As
I started to write this letter, sbout graft ete, that is where all our good
food went to, It msy have come into camp but the Japanese population did not
consume it., It either @t out or the cuascasgions ate it, I know one Japanese
girl that works in the cuacasion kitechen and she tell me that they eat gravy,
with an additionel graph, they all cream, Well at present, lhey have about
twenty guys or so in the can, for questioning, One of the duwb muts tried to
comuite suicide, but he is a physco case o I guess I can't blame him, Our
canteens opened yesterday but as usual they don't have much, I also think that
someone is going to mske a hell of a lot thr graph in our Mp.

Well there isn't much were to write sbeut, I don't know how our Ad, will run
next week, At present, the teachers are the see., and stemos, But since school
starts again next week, they will have to teach agein, But for the last two

. weeks the cuascasions really worked like hell, They had to do just about
everytuing, Before they ordered the Jaj:ane:e workers around and sat on their
but and creamed left and right with woney, Well they had a meeting this
morning for the workers that lost their jobs for not reporting to work, Well
the Project director spoke to all of them and dismissedthe meeting, theu some
dumb Jap stands up and says not to go out and they contimue the meeting after
kr, Merrit leaves, |

Oh yes, I enclose the paper that he dlstributed all over Manzenar, It is
typed exactly like it was printed, At present, we have no lP's at t.ha'ho;pital
or at all of the other post except at the PBX phone exchange and at the eight
towers around the camp, There are about four cars, two peeps and two jeeps wit h
four wen in them, they have a radio of some kind with one man maning a sub
machine gun, one with ans shot gun and one with ear phonecs on his head and
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one driving, the cars have a antenna about fifteen feet in the air, I dom't
know if they are trylig to recieve short wave or trying to spot where they

are sending it from but this is golng on all day, But all of the MP's are
still here, They are now living in their barracks snd in the camouflage net
project site, They seecuwed to have come from Reno, Mohave desert, and from
Boulder Dam, They have one armored car, with all of its machine guns sticking
out, Welil I can't say much more but I'm sure that there is more to come, The
camp is not back to normal yet, Far from it, It seems bhat we could feel

something in the szir,
Well Af there is amything I left out or something you want to know, just write

and aske Till I hear from you again, ———

PS, Sorry that I had to mske carben copies but I know th:t everyone wants to
know what it is all abeut so I's tel_ing the honest truth to everyone, 0Oh yes,
at first Mr, lerrit said that this was to celebrate Dec, the 7th, It is &ll a
lie, It had nothing to do d#ith it, He was trying to cover up to the public so
that the bad impressen wouldn't fall on hiu, He was also trying to cover wp

sone of his fellow workers,

May I wish you a MERRY XMAS AND A HAPPY NEW YEAR, Love, —
Till the rising sun sinks,



Sunday, Dec. 18, 1942

I0 THE PEOPLE OF MANZANAR

It is my desire that you know the facts concerning last Sundsyts events,

'ﬂh-en I wet with the committee led by Nr, Joe Kurihara shortly afternocm, I

agreed to bring Harry Ueno back from Independence to the Kanzanar jail

where he would await trial, The committee promised that the following con-

ditions would be observeds: .

1, The comaittee guaranteed there would be no more mobs or mass meetings,

2. The coumittee guaranteced there would be no attempt later to free lr, Ueno
frow the Hangzanar jail,

8, The committee guaranteed that thqre would be no attempted meetings of any
sort until the Center had gone back to normal conditions,

4, The committee agreed to help waintein lew and order within the center, and

in line with tiis would work with the police to deiiver the men who beat

Tayama,

THE COMMITTEE VIOLATED ITS WORD BY CALLING THE MASS MEETING AT 6300 O'CLUCK TO
URGE OKE GROUP TO GO TO THE HOSPITAL AND THE OTHER GROUP TO BREAK INTO THE JAILe
Law and order must be preserved in any community at any cost, If it cannot be

preserved through the police it must be preserved through the military,

When those who sald that they represented the people of Manzansr, broke their
word and resorted to mob violence, there wzs but one thing to do, and that wes

Yo turn over all authority to the military, I did this as a last resort to
protect life and property from the rule of mobs,

There is no martial law,
!hi military are remaining with us as police to maintain law and order,

Since this is & true statement of the facts I have nothing further to say until
the people gf Manganar choose to spesk through responsible representaztives,

P. kerritt
(siem) ;:'}i Pe Merritt

Director



